2

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals**

RECEIVED
JUL 23 2014

Appellate Case No. 2013-001441

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Case No. 2010-CP-23-1621

Edward G. Wellmaker, Judge

J. P. Morgan Chase Bank NA, Plaintiff

v.

**Thomas R. Irby, Roy C. Irby aka Roy C. Irby II,
Bank of America, NA And Charles H. Knight LLC, Defendants**

**Of whom
Bank of America, NA and Roy C. Irby, aka Roy C. Irby II
are the Respondents**

and

Thomas R. Irby is the Appellant

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appellant:

**Thomas R. Irby, pro se
P.O. Box 827
Pelzer, SC 29669
Ph. 864-243-4015
Fax. 864-243-3794**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

This is an appeal from a case of bank negligence tried as breach of contract.

A line of credit for \$69,000.00 with BOA was paid off from a consolidation loan with M&T Bank for \$95,000.00. The M&T loan was later purchased by Chase Bank.

I was the primary borrower, Thomas R. (Tom) Irby. The cosigner is Roy C. (Roy) Irby II. Roy Irby is my nephew.

Bank of America failed to close the equity line of credit when instructed to do so. The bank accepted the payoff check and ignored written instructions to close the account. I was not informed that the account was not closed until over two years after sending a payoff check and instructing BOA to close the account. Roy Irby withdrew the limit of \$69,000.00 and stopped paying.

At trial Roy Irby was awarded an adjusted total of \$110,791.61 Bank of America was awarded an adjusted total of \$73,019.07. I received a debt of \$1,510.67. Those totals are the jury verdicts adjusted by the accounts and case records. In Final analysis Roy received \$164,000.00.

The jury awarded a judgment for BOA against Roy for \$21,508.46 and a judgment for me against Roy for \$31,700.00. Roy received all the \$69,000.00 so his net profit from BOA was \$15,791.46. He also received the \$95,000.00 from the Chase Bank loan. His total profit is \$110,791.54.

Bank of America was allowed to sell a questionable first mortgage position to Chase for \$50,000.00. BOA received the judgment against Roy for \$21,508.46 and a judgment against me for \$1,510.67. These three amounts total \$73,019.07, (BOA balance on 4/5/11 was \$72,214.69). Roy won't pay BOA but it's an accounting asset for the bank, (BOA ex.#1-R429).

I received a judgment against Roy for \$31,700.00 and a judgment against me for BOA of \$1,510.67. I am informed that an individual can't

collect a judgment from another individual in this state so I received a debt of \$1,510.67. By adding costs of over \$40,000.00 to \$50,000.00 I am penalized by a loss greater than (-)\$41,510.67. That does not include stress, anxiety, time lost for me, Damage to my credit, or the stress, anxiety, emergency room, and medical care for my wife.

All the costs, court time, lawyer time and fees, hundreds of pages of print, fraudulent withdrawals, fraudulent and unfounded accusations, and all else expended through now and yet to come could have been avoided. All bank of America had to do was notify me or Attorney Jones that they were not going to close the account. If there was any error in the closing procedure BOA only had to ask that it be corrected.

QUESTIONS & ISSUES

Concerning Bank of America

1. Should a Bank accept a payoff check with a letter from a borrowers attorney instructing the bank to close an account and then;
 - (a) Accept the check and ignore the attorney's letter instructing the bank to close the line of credit account,
 - (b) Not inform the Attorney or the primary borrower that the account was not closed for over two years,
 - (c) Let a cosigner use the account for over two years and max it out at \$69,000.00.
 - (d) Try to collect the \$69,000.00 (plus costs) from the primary borrower,
 - (e) Claim first mortgage status because the bank failed to close the account?
2. Is a bank customer in breach of contract by not paying on a loan that he does not know exists because he paid it off and closed it?
3. Did the Court err by ignoring my Claim for Negligence and restricting the trial to Breach of Contract?
4. Did the Court err by not considering Duty of trust and/or Duty of Care?
5. Did the Court deliberately force the matter into appeal?

6. Should the jury decision be set aside for Inconsistency?
 7. Should the Jury Verdicts be set aside because of Unjust Enrichment?
 8. Did the Court err by not allowing my cost records to be presented?
 9. Did the Court err by restricting the jury verdicts?
 10. Did the court err by ignoring punitive damages?
 11. Did BOA accept the payoff check under false pretense?
 12. Was the equity court in error not to determine the First Mortgage Status?
-

QUESTIONS & ISSUES

(Concerning Roy C. Irby II)

13. As cosigner did Roy C. Irby II violate Federal and/or State law by taking funds from the account he knew it was supposed to be closed?
 14. By taking funds from the account during and after august 22, 2007 did Roy C. Irby commit breach of trust with fraudulent intent against me?
 15. Should the court have referred the claims against Roy Irby to the Criminal Court?
 16. Did Roy C. Irby, upon knowing the account was not closed, have an obligation to inform me, Attorney Jones, or Bank of America?
-

Grounds for Questions On Bank of America

Question No. 1

(a) A payoff check and letter of instructions were sent to Bank of America. The bank received both the letter and check. The letter from Attorney Gregg Jones instructed the bank that the check was to payoff the account and that BOA was to block and close the account. The letter also stated that the check was to pay off the account. BOA deposited the check as a regular payment and ignored the letter. The letter also told the bank that if there was any problem they were to contact him, (pln.ex#4-R393).

(b) Bank of America chose not to inform anyone that they did not close the account. BOA never informed me, as the primary borrower, or Attorney Jones that the account was not closed, (R.335:17-25, R336:1).

(c) The bank allowed the cosigner on the account draw \$69,000.00 from the account and told no one until the cosigner defaulted. The cosigner was supposed to make all payments on the account by agreement with me, (pln.ex#5-R394) (R186:1-5, 13-17).

(d) When the cosigner stopped paying on the account after withdrawing the limit of \$69,000.00 Bank of America chose to send me two consecutive delinquent payment statements. From that I learned the account had not been closed, (R.187:25, R188:1-2, 15-20).

(e) Because the bank failed to close the account they claimed first mortgage status. BOA was later allowed to sell first mortgage status to Chase Bank for \$50,000.00. Chase Bank provided a consolidation loan of \$95,000.00 to pay off Bank of America's second mortgage and the First Mortgage from Community First Bank, (R155:2-7).

Question No. 2: Is a bank customer in breach of contract by not paying on a loan that he does not know exists because he paid it off and closed it? At trial the court only allowed a cause of action on Breach of Contract. My charge of Negligence was denied. Bank of America argued that I had breached a contract that I did not know existed (because of the bank's negligence), (R188:9-14).

Question No. 3: Did the Court err by ignoring my Claim for Negligence and restricting the trial to Breach of Contract? Breach of Contract was prejudicial because it was most favorable to the Bank. Compensable damages were limited. Documentation on general expenses and costs were not allowed. My attorney David Alford, argued for negligence numerous times and asked the court to preserve his stand for Negligence as the moving cause. The court noted that his position was preserved for the record, (R311:14-17).

Question No. 4: Did the Court err by not considering Duty of trust and/or Duty of Care? The Duty that arises or Negligence thereof was not considered. Reference to Duty was argued a number of times by my Counsel. (R239:9-13, R240:1-10).

Question No. 5: Did the Court deliberately force the matter into appeal? Judge Welmaker stated that if he was wrong on Breach of Contract he had a good safety net in Columbia. The court was aware that I am financially vulnerable as is Bank of America. The court selected a cause of action that would add additional financial burden on me and place me in a prejudiced position. (Refer to the General Amendment to my Cross Complaint filed September 6, 2011) (R311:20-24) (see complaint)

Question No. 6: Should the jury decision be set aside for Inconsistency? The Jury decision is inconsistent with the testimony, records, and evidence presented. The Jury failed to rationalize the full accounts in calculating the verdicts. When those verdicts are analyzed thoroughly, Roy Irby was awarded an adjusted total of \$110,791.61 Bank of America was awarded an adjusted total of \$73,019.07. I received a debt of \$1,510.67. Those totals are based on the jury verdicts adjusted by the account records. This defies the fact that I am the injured party and plaintiff in the action. (A judgment against Roy for me of \$31,700.00 is not rational to the evidence and testimony. It is also not collectible so it is meaningless) (see verdict sheets R5,R6,R7)

Question No. 7: Should the Jury Verdicts be set aside because of Unjust Enrichment? The disparity of the verdicts (question 6 above) amounts to awards of unjust enrichment. *"Unjust enrichment" is an equitable doctrine, akin to restitution, which permits the recovery of that amount the defendant has been unjustly enriched at the expense of the plaintiff.* Ellis v. Smith Grading & Paving, Inc., 294 S.C. 470, 473, 366 S.E.2d 12, 14 (Ct. App. 1988).

"In a law action, the measure of damages is determined by the parties' agreement, while in equity, the measure of the recovery is the extent of the duty or obligation imposed by law, and is expressed by the amount which the court considers the defendant has been unjustly enriched at the expense of

the plaintiff." United States Rubber Prods., Inc. v. Town of Batesburg, 183 S.C. 49, 55, 190 S.E. 120, 126 (1937).

Question No. 8: Did the Court err by not allowing my cost records to be presented? I am informed that my cost records were not allowed in evidence because those costs were not compensable in Breach of Contract. The Jury obviously felt some compunction to consider my expenditures. From deliberations they asked the court to confirm:

*"What is Thomas Irby asking for?" "Please explain how amount is determined."
"Please break down into categories" (R431)*

The jury was returned to the court room and informed by Judge Welmaker that he could not provide such information for deliberation. He said that he could have the recorder find the testimony on the recording and play it back. The jury was returned to deliberations without the answers or the recorders assistance, (R360:3-8, 13-18, 22-25).

Question No. 9: Did the Court err by restricting the jury verdicts? The verdict sheets provided to the jury were restrictively based on Breach of Contract. The text and composition are as follows:

" As to the claims for Breach of Contract:

_____ We, the Jury, find for Plaintiff Thomas Irby against Defendant Bank of America actual damages in the amount of \$_____ (R5)

Or

_____ We, the Jury, find for Defendant Bank of America against Plaintiff Thomas Irby actual damages in the amount of \$_____

Or

_____ We, the Jury, find for the Defendants (no recovery for either party)"

The verdict sheets had no provision for repairing the damage to my credit rating or to my business, or personal reputation. The fact that because of the negligence of Bank of America I have a foreclosure permanently on my record is not considered for Breach of Contract. The damage to my credit can't be repaired in my lifetime.

Question No. 10: Did the court err by ignoring punitive damages? My complaint with revisions asked for punitive damages at the discretion of the

court. Judge Welmaker determined that the claims against BOA did not rise to a punitive level, (see complaint, R18-30).

Bank of America is a recidivist. The bank has reprehensibly and egregiously denied any duty, error, or correction thereof. The Negligence by the Bank resulted in damages in costs, expenditures, defamation, credit loss, stress, anxiety, medical costs, time lost, and other costs. The qualification for Punitive damages is well met, (see complaint R18-30).

In *BMW v. Gore Jr.* the U.S. Supreme Court states: "Our holdings that a recidivist may be punished more severely than a first offender recognize that repeated misconduct is more reprehensible than an individual instance of malfeasance. See *Gryger v. Burke*, 334 U.S. 728, 732 (1948)."

In *Mitchell v. Fortis* the SC Supreme Court No. 26718, referring to *Gore* the court stated:

"First, any court reviewing a punitive damages award should consider the degree of reprehensibility of the defendant's conduct. Reprehensibility is perhaps the most important indicium of the reasonableness of a punitive damages award. Gore, 517 U.S. at 565."

"The practice of awarding punitive damages originated in principles of common law to deter the wrongdoer and others from committing like offenses in the future." 385 S.C. at 584, 686 S.E.2d at 183.

Question No. 11: Did BOA accept the payoff check under false pretense? The letter from Jones qualified the purpose of the accompanying check, (pln.ex#4, R393).

"Enclosed herewith please find my check in the amount of \$9,998.92 to be applied to the above mortgage number." Then the purpose of the check is explained;

"If there is a balance due please contact this office immediately. If no balance is due, or if this is an equity line, you are directed and authorized to close, block, and satisfy said mortgage and forward to my office. If you have any questions, please feel free to call me. "

Upon receiving the letter Bank of America made a decision not to abide by the instructions and not to acknowledge the letter in any way. They deposited the check under false pretenses.

Question No. 12: Was the equity court in error not to determine the First Mortgage Status? The matter of mortgage status was referred to the Equity Court at the first hearing before Judge Stilwell. The equity court failed to determine an official first mortgage status. BOA subsequently "sold" their questionable first mortgage status to Chase which effectively increased my liability to Chase by \$50,000.00. When Boa was challenged on the \$50,000.00 it was deducted from the amount BOA claimed as balance owed. BOA testified that transferring the \$50,000.00 to Chase was a gift to me. Chase took the loss but the foreclosure is a permanent detriment to my credit, (R285:16-25).

Grounds for Questions
On Roy C. Irby II

Question No. 13: As cosigner did Roy C. Irby II violate Federal and/or State law by taking funds from the account that he knew was supposed to be closed? My cross complaint charged Roy C. Irby II with violation of Federal and State law by taking the funds and breach of contact with fraudulent intent.

SC ST SEC 34-3-110; Crimes against a federally chartered or insured financial institution, provides the following:

- (A) *A person knowingly may not execute, or attempt to execute, a scheme or artifice to:*
- (a) *Defraud a federally chartered or insured financial institution; or*
 - (b) *Obtain monies, funds, credits, assets, securities, or other property owned by or under the custody or control of a federally chartered or insured financial institution by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises.*
 - (c) *A person who violates the provisions of subsection (A) is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be fined not more than ten thousand dollars or imprisoned for not more than five years, or both.*

Roy Irby withdrew funds from the BOA account after the payoff balance was sent to Gregg Jones' office. BOA knew the account was in payoff process but used the untimely advances as a reason not to close the account.

Question No. 14: By taking funds from the account during and/or after August 22, 2007 did Roy Irby commit breach of trust with fraudulent intent against me? Roy Irby committed breach of trust with fraudulent intent and/or and breach of contract with fraudulent intent against me. For over two years he caused me to believe he was fulfilling his pledge to service the Chase Bank mortgage of \$95,000.00. He concealed that the BOA account of \$69,000.00 had not closed and that he was drawing funds from it. He testified that he paid me for the rest of the land with funds from the BOA account. Regardless of which account the funds came from he paid me with money he never intended to repay. He therefore paid me with my own money.

Question No. 15: Should the court have referred the claims against Roy Irby to the Criminal Court? The violations of Roy C. Irby against BOA and Me are criminal. I had moved on the court for bifurcation of BOA matters and Roy C. Irby matters because criminal charges against the bank are barred. Separating the issues would have allowed allegations against Roy to be filed in or referred to criminal court. The Equity Court rejected the motion for bifurcation. With the trial restricted to common breach of contract as a civil matter, criminal charges against Roy were avoided.

Question No. 16: Did Roy C. Irby, upon knowing the account was not closed, have an obligation to inform me, Attorney Jones, or Bank of America? Roy C. Irby knew the account was not closed. In numerous efforts to incriminate me he admitted that.

The letter from BOA that the account was linked as overdraft protection to Roy's personal account proves he knew it was not closed, (pln.ex#7, R401). Roy admitted that he had continued to use access devices to draw from the account. He continued to actively use the account from the payoff date of August, 2007 until June, 2010. That is proven by the account history, (pln.ex#5, R394).

If Roy Irby had exercised his responsibility to me and BOA there would be no issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE HISTORY

(See Opening statements by Alford, R98:13-25, R99:1-25, R100:1-26)

(R101:1-8)

COMMENCEMENT DATES

Chase Bank filed an action for foreclosure on March 10, 2010.

Appellant Thomas R. Irby file a Cross Claim on June 16, 2010

Cross Claim was amended Oct. 12, 2010 and Sept. 6, 2011

NATURE OF ACTION

Cross Claim against Bank of America and Roy C. Irby II, for Negligence, Breach of Contract, Breach of Contract with Fraudulent intent, Breach of Trust, Violation of Duty of Care.

NATURE OF DEFENSE

BOA.....Denial, Claims no Violations by BOA, claims I breached contract. Roy C. Irby.....Denial, Claimed agreement is not a contract, claims incrimination by me.

DATES OF TRIAL

May 29-30, 2013

ACTION OF THE COURT

The Court Denied Negligence claim on BOA, Allowed only Breach of Contract as action for trial.

AMOUNTS INVOLVED

Thomas R. Irby...\$40,000.00 to \$50,000.00 costs and expenses.

(R196:14-18) (R332:14-17) Plus credit damage, plus stress & anxiety, plus stress & anxiety for wife, plus Punitive Damages (refer to cross claim)

Bank of America...Claimed delinquent balance of \$71,214.69, reduced to \$23,852.36 at trial (R333:22-25, 300:1-3). Chase loan, \$95,000.00.

NATURE OF DECISIONS

Jury Verdicts filed May 31, 2013: Judgments for BOA are \$1,510.61 against T. R. Irby, \$21,508.46 against Roy C. Irby, Judgment for T. R. Irby against Roy is \$31,700.00. (not collectable)

On July 7, 2004 I signed a "Contract for Deed" agreement with Roy Irby for 1.43 acres of land at 156 Pearson Road, Belton SC, 29627. Roy started construction of a house on the property, (R183:5-10). Shortly thereafter I discovered that the surveyor had made an error of 0.08 acres less than the actual property. That was added to the lot to make the total acreage to be 1.51 acres. At \$10,000.00 per acre the total price for the land was \$15,100.00.

In April of 2007 Roy ran out of money. The house was framed with no roof. He asked me to help him get funds to continue construction. He promised that if I would help obtain financing he would repay everything, (R255":24-25, R256:1-2)

I procured a \$55,000.00 loan with Community First Bank in Williamston, SC on April 20, 2007, (R183:14-20). He cosigned with me and agreed to keep up the payments and pay the costs. I retained half interest in the property by deed as security for my signature, (def.ex#1, Irby-R199:1-5). The deed was filed on March 23, 2007. This loan was processed by Attorney Gregg Jones in Williamston, SC.

On May 16, 2007 I cosigned with Roy on a home equity line of credit with Bank of America in the amount of \$69,000.00, (pln.ex#1-R368) This loan was processed by Attorney Gregg Jones.

On August 22, 2007 I cosigned with Roy for a loan for \$95,000.00 with M&T Bank to pay off the existing loans including Bank of America, (pln.ex#1&8, R368-R402) The balance was to pay me the unpaid amount he owed me for the land and for accrued construction expenses on his house. This loan was also processed by Attorney Jones.

Jones requested a payoff balance statement from Bank of America and on receipt thereof processed the M&T loan and paid off the other two loans.

He issued a check to Bank of America in the amount of \$9,998.92 on August 22, 2007, (pln.ex#4, R393). That amount is on the payoff statement provided by Bank of America, (pln. ex#12, R415).

The check cleared Jones' trust account with First Citizens Bank in Williamston. Jones and I considered the account closed.

Roy moved into the house in late August of 2007. By spring of 2009 Roy had moved to Nashville. He ordered his daughter out of the house and attempted to sell it along with a complete estate auction of everything he had on the property, (def. ex#4, R419). The Auction was completed on November 9, 2009. I informed the auctioneer and realtor's agent (Maggie Holloway) that I was cosigner on the loan for \$95,000.00 and the property could not be transferred until the loan was paid off.

I received a delinquent payment notice dated November 13, 2009 for \$207.91, (R195:7-19). I carried the notice to BOA at Simpsonville and paid it. I asked to get a printout of the account balance and was told the branch could not provide it. I tried to contact Roy without success.

On December 1, 2009 I went to the ROD office for Greenville County. On searching the property records I learned that Bank of America had not closed the account. I was the primary borrower on two cosigned loans. I also discovered that Roy had filed the reserve deed he requested to be held in case something happened to me. The deed was filed with the ROD on November 13, 2008, (def.ex#2,R417). That deed was dated the same as the deed of record and plainly noted that "No Title Examination Performed". That deed relinquished me of my half interest. I had no collateral for the two loans I had cosigned for Roy.

I was unable to contact Roy with my concerns. I checked the document tray on my desk where the records for the property had stayed. All of the property records were gone. When I resorted to a certified letter to his last known address the letter was returned as not deliverable, (R190:2-6).

On December 4, 2009 I received another delinquent notice from BOA, (R188:15-20). I paid it at the same BOA branch in Simpsonville. I talked with the manager. He could not provide a printout of the account history.

Efforts to get BOA to reconcile the matter remained futile. Attorney Gregg Jones prepared a Lis Pendens which was filed on January 14, 2010, (def.ex#3, R418). Harassing phone calls from BOA continued.

I received a letter from Roy dated February 1, 2010 telling me to short sell the house. I had the letter reviewed by Jones and we determined the request was valid. I signed an agreement with Knight Real Estate in Williamston to market the property. I also requested a short sale agreement from BOA, (R263:7-15). When Roy ordered the Realtor to cease his involvement I did not pursue the short sale further.

Chase Bank filed an action for foreclosure on March 10, 2010.

On June 11, 2010 I finally received a telefax copy of the account history that was addressed to Nashville, (pln.ex#5, R394). That is the first time I had been able to review the account record. The account showed that Roy had withdrawn the limit of \$69,000.00 from the account and stopped paying on it. It also shows that BOA had kept the account open until June of 2010. They ignored my insistence that the account was supposed to be closed.

I filed my Cross Complaint on June 18, 2010.

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