THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Edward G. Wellmaker, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2010-CP-23-1621
Appellate Case No. 2013-001441

Chase Home Finance, LLC

v.

Thomas R. Irby, Roy C. Irby a/k/a Roy C. Irby II and Bank of America, N.A.

Thomas R. IrbyAppellant,

Roy C. Irby a/k/a Roy C. Irby IIRespondent,

Bank of America, N.A. Respondent.

RESPONDENT BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.'S FINAL BRIEF

James Lynn Werner
Lawrence M. Hershon
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
PO Box 1509
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 255-8000
jimwerner@parkerpoe.com
lawrencehershon@parkerpoe.com

Attorneys for Respondent Bank of America,
N.A.

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

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Judgment on the Pleadings

Judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c), SCRCF is appropriate where there is no issue of fact raised by the cross-claim that would entitle the claimant to judgment in the claimant's favor. Sapp v. Ford Motor Co., 386 S.C. 143, 146, 687 S.E.2d

¹ While Thomas Irby initially asserted counterclaims against Chase, he eventually agreed to dismiss those claims. The foreclosure was eventually bifurcated from the claims at issue herein, and the foreclosure was completed in 2012.

47, 49 (2009). In ruling on a party's Rule 12(c) motion, the Court must treat as true and admitted "all properly pleaded factual allegations." The Housing Authority of the City of Columbia v. Cornerstone Housing, LLC, 356 S.C. 328, 334, 588 S.E.2d 617, 620 (Ct. App. 2003) (quoting FOC Lawshe, Ltd. P'Ship v. Int'l Paper Co., 352 S.C. 408, 413, 574 S.E.2d 228, 230 (Ct. App. 2002)). The Court is empowered to grant judgment on the pleadings where there is no issue of fact raised by the complaint that would entitle a plaintiff to judgment if resolved in his favor. Sapp v. Ford Motor Co., at 146, 687 S.E.2d at 49 (2009) (citing Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C. 86, 89, 406 S.E.2d 338, 339 (1991)).

When reviewing a motion for judgment on the pleadings, the court may not consider matters outside the pleadings. Lydia v. Horton, 343 S.C. 376, 380, 540 S.E.2d 102, 105 (Ct. App. 2001), rev'd on other grounds, 355 S.C. 36, 583 S.E.2d 705 (2003) (citing Firemen's Ins. Co. v. Cincinnati Ins. Co., 302 S.C. 234, 394 S.E.2d 855 (Ct. App. 1990)). However, the Court should construe the pleadings liberally so as to do substantial justice to the parties. Id. (citing Russell v. City of Columbia, 305 S.C. 86, 406 S.E.2d 338 (1991)).

An order granting a motion for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c) is reviewed *de novo*. An appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court when reviewing the dismissal of an action pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) or Rule 12(c), SCRPC. See Doe v. Marion, 373 S.C. 390, 395, 645 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2007) (discussing the standard of review of a motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRPC); Hambrick v. GMAC Mortg. Corp., 370 S.C. 118, 122, 634 S.E.2d 5, 7 (Ct. App. 2006) (discussing the standard of review of a motion for judgment on the pleadings). When considering a motion for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c), SCRPC, the court must regard all

properly pleaded factual allegations as admitted. Falk v. Sadler, 341 S.C. 281, 286-87, 533 S.E.2d 350, 353 (Ct. App. 2000).

B. Jury Verdict

“In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried by a jury, the jurisdiction of [the appellate court] extends merely to the correction of errors of law, and a factual finding of the jury will not be disturbed unless a review of the record discloses that there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury’s findings.” Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 85, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976) (citing Odom v. Weathersbee, 225 S.C. 253, 81 S.E.2d 788 (1954)). An appellate court may reverse a trial court only where there is no evidence to support the ruling, as it is the duty of the courts to sustain verdicts when a logical reason for reconciling them can be found. Sapp v. Wheeler, 402 S.C. 502, 507, 741 S.E.2d 565, 568 (Ct. App. 2013); Daves v. Cleary, 355 S.C. 216, 234, 584 S.E.2d 423, 432 (Ct. App. 2003) (“A jury’s verdict should be affirmed if it is possible to do so and carry into effect the jury’s clear intention.”). Jury verdicts should be upheld when it is possible to do so and carry out the clear intention of the jury. Johnson v. Parker, 279 S.C. 132, 135, 303 S.E.2d 95, 97 (1983); Daves v. Cleary, 355 S.C. 216, 234, 584 S.E.2d 423, 432 (Ct. App. 2003).

“On appeal from an action at law tried with or without a jury, the appellate court’s standard of review extends only to the correction of errors of law.” Frampton v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp., 406 S.C. 377, 385, 752 S.E.2d 269, 273–74 (Ct. App. 2013) (citing Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 85–86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976)).

II. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT APPROPRIATELY RULE IN DISMISSING APPELLANT'S CAUSE OF ACTION FOR NEGLIGENCE?

The Circuit Court did not cite to a specific reason for granting Bank of America's Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and dismissing the cause of action for negligence. The Circuit Court considered, and could have granted the motion on each of the arguments below.

A. Appellant's Negligence Claim Failed as a Matter of Law

1. Determination of Duty Was a Question of Law for the Circuit Court

In order to establish a claim for negligence, a party must prove the following elements: (1) a duty of care owed by one party to the other; (2) a breach of that duty by negligent act or omission, and (3) damage proximately caused by the breach. Doe v. Batson, 345 S.C. 316, 548 S.E.2d 854 (2001). An essential element in a cause of action for negligence is the existence of a legal duty of care owed by one party to the other. Id. In a negligence cause of action, the court must determine, as a matter of law, whether one party owed a duty of care to the other. Houck v. State Farm and Casualty Ins. Co., 366 S.C. 7, 11-12, 620 S.E. 326, 329 (2005) (“[t]he existence of a duty owed is a question of law for the courts”) (citing Doe v. Batson, 345 S.C. 316, 548 S.E.2d 854 (2001) and Washington v. Lexington County Jail, 337 S.C. 400, 523 S.E.2d 204 (Ct. App. 1999)); Faile v. South Carolina Dept. of Juvenile Justice, 350 S.C. 315, 566 S.E.2d 536 (2002). If there is no duty, the defending party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Simmons v. Tuomey Regional Med. Ctr., 341 S.C. 32, 533 S.E.2d 312 (2000).

2. There Was No Duty in Tort from Bank of America to Appellant

To be clear, there are duties between the parties arising under contract. However, Bank of America does not owe a duty to Appellant separate and apart from any

contractual duties. As South Carolina case law makes clear, there is no general duty of care between a bank and its customer. Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 582 S.E.2d 432 (Ct. App. 2003). In addition, “[t]he law does not impose a duty on the bank to explain to an individual what he could learn from simply reading the document.” Citizens & S. Nat’l Bank of South Carolina v. Lanford, 313 S.C. 540, 545, 443 S.E.2d 549, 551 (1994). For an extra-contractual duty to arise between Bank of America and Thomas Irby, it would have been necessary for Bank of America to have provided advice that Thomas Irby then relied upon to his detriment. There are no allegations of any provision of advice to Appellant related to any banking product, let alone the Equity Line.

With no allegation of any advice flowing from Bank of America to Appellant, and no allegation of any relationship between the parties other than the standard relationship between a mortgagee and mortgagor, no tort duty can exist under South Carolina law. If a party fails to show the defending party owed it a legal duty of care, it fails to prove actionable negligence. Doe v. Greenville County Sch. Dist., 375 S.C. 63, 72, 651 S.E.2d 305, 309 (2007).

Murray v. Bank of America, 354 S.C. 337, 580 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2003), cited by Appellant, is not relevant to the case at bar. Murray involved a meeting between the plaintiff and bank which created an affirmative duty for the bank to act on plaintiff’s behalf to prevent future fraud related to her bank account. Evidence was also presented in Murray that the bank violated its own procedures. In the case at bar, Appellant presented no evidence in opposition to the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings of any affirmative act or representation by Bank of America whatsoever during the time period of Roy Irby’s withdrawals on the account, let alone an affirmative act that could even

arguably give rise to a duty. Also, Appellant never provided any evidence to show that Bank of America violated any of its procedures.

At most, Appellant possessed a claim for breach of contractual duties by Bank of America, and the jury decided that no such breach occurred. There was never a duty created between Bank of America and Appellant outside of the contractual duties included in the underlying agreement. The rule of Schmauch applies, and, therefore, there can be no liability in negligence.

B. All Claims in the Pleadings Arise Out of the Contract

All of Thomas Irby's allegations relate to alleged performance and non-performance under a contract: the Equity Maximizer Agreement. Allegations concern such items as whether Bank of America should have closed the Equity Line upon request of Thomas Irby's attorney and whether Bank of America should have continued to disburse funds to Roy Irby. All of these allegations relate to whether Bank of America complied with the terms of a contract.

There is no recognized claim for "negligent breach" under South Carolina law absent a showing of a duty outside of the contract: a party either breaches a contract or does not do so. See Meddin v. Southern Ry.-Carolina Division, 218 S.C. 155, 165, 62 S.E.2d 109, 112 (1950) ("[I]f the cause of action is predicated on the alleged breach, or even negligent breach, of a contract between parties, an action in tort will not lie."). The allegations of Appellant's cross-claim all relate to the contract between the parties, the Equity Maximizer Agreement. In addition, mere breach of contract is not actionable as a tort in South Carolina, no matter what the alleged intent of the breaching party was. Troutman v. Facetglas, Inc., 281 S.C. 598, 601, 316 S.E.2d 424, 426 (Ct. App. 1984). Because there is no allegation of an independent tort unrelated to the contract at issue

(absent the conclusory claim of “negligence” by Appellant), all the claims arise out of the contract, and there is no duty outside of contractual duties, a claim for negligence cannot lie and the cause of action for negligence was properly dismissed.

C. The Economic Loss Rule Bars a Claim in Negligence

Even if Bank of America did owe a duty, which it denies, the claims asserted by Thomas Irby arise out of a contract (the Equity Line) and not in tort. Damages arising from a contract can only be of an economic nature. Any claim of negligence for purely economic loss is barred by the economic loss rule. “[T]he question of whether [a party] may maintain an action in tort for purely economic loss turns on the determination of the source of the duty [a party] claims the [other party] owed. A breach of a duty which arises under the provisions of a contract between the parties must be redressed under contract, and a tort action will not lie.” Tommy L. Griffin Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Jordan, Jones & Goulding, Inc., 320 S.C. 49, 54-55, 463 S.E.2d 85, 88 (1995). The economic loss doctrine bars the negligence claim.

“In most instances, a negligence action will not lie when the parties are in privity of contract.” Id. at 54, 463 S.E.2d 85, 88. The exception to this rule is when a “special relationship” between the parties not arising in contract exists, creating a duty of care outside of the contract. Id.

No such exception exists for the matter at bar. Aside from the fact that there is no general duty between a bank and its customer (See Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 668-670, 582 S.E.2d 432, 443-45 (Ct. App. 2003)), Thomas Irby made no allegations in the pleadings that show any acts or circumstances that establish a “special relationship” between the parties. Indeed, no fiduciary, or special, relationship normally

exists between a bank and its customer. See Burwell v. South Carolina National Bank, 288 S.C. 34, 41, 340 S.E.2d 786, 790 (1986).

Therefore, pursuant to the economic loss rule, the cause of action for negligence was properly dismissed.

D. Conclusion

For each of the reasons stated above, the Circuit Court properly dismissed the cause of action for negligence prior to trial. The Circuit Court's decision is supported by the law and record, and Appellant presents no issue that calls for the Court of Appeals to overturn the Circuit Court's decision.

III. DID THE JURY ERR IN ITS VERDICTS AS THEY RELATE TO APPELLANT AND RESPONDENT BANK OF AMERICA?

Appellant provides no adequate reason for the Court of Appeals to disturb the jury's award. Appellant attempts to raise a multitude of arguments concerning his interpretation of the facts, which either (1) were presented to the jury, for it to make a factual determination of whether a breach of the underlying document had occurred, or (2) presents arguments and interpretations of evidence that were never raised at trial.

At trial, Appellant and Bank of America each presented evidence that the other had breached the underlying contract. After listening to the presentation of facts and then listening to the Circuit Court's jury charges for the jury to apply those facts to the law, the jury made the determination that the Appellant had breached his contract with Bank of America. The record provides ample evidence that Appellant breached the contract at issue: Appellant signed the agreement; the agreement clearly labels the events considered to be a default (and therefore a breach); Bank of America presented evidence that the signatories to the agreement failed to make payments; Bank of America presented evidence that Appellant, as co-signer of the agreement, was contractually responsible for

such payments; and Bank of America presented evidence of how it had been damaged by Appellant's breach.

A. The Damages Award Was Consistent